Chapter 4 Charge at Interfaces

Contents

4.1	The Maxwell-Wagner-Sillars Effect	39
4.2	Solid–Liquid Interfaces	40
	4.2.1 Mechanisms for S/L Interface Charging	40
	4.2.2 The Electric Double Layer	41
	4.2.3 Experimental Methods	44
4.3	Liquid–Liquid Interfaces	45
4.4	Solid- and Liquid-Gas Interfaces	45
	4.4.1 Liquid–Gas Interfaces	46
	4.4.2 Metal or Semiconductor/Liquid Interfaces	48
4.5	Solid–Solid Interfaces	49
	4.5.1 Selective Partition of Adsorbed Ions	49
4.6	Water Structures at Interfaces	50
Refe	rences	50

4.1 The Maxwell-Wagner-Sillars Effect

Charge accumulation can take place at any interface, following the Maxwell-Wagner-Sillars effect that is observed whenever current flows across the interface of two materials [1].

Two parameters, dielectric constant ε and conductivity σ , define the macroscopic electrical properties of materials and their ratio $\tau = \varepsilon/\sigma$ is the relaxation time for each equivalent electric circuit given by the parallel capacitance and resistance of each material. When an electric current *j* crosses the interface, the difference in the relaxation times produces charge accumulation at the interface. This is a macroscopic dielectric polarization process that is called interfacial polarization.



Fig. 4.1 Schematic description of the Maxwell-Wagner-Sillars effect

The time constant for charge accumulation is different from the time constants for each contacting material forming a series circuit, because it also depends on geometric factors. This is understood considering that the contribution of each material to the capacitance and impedance of the series circuit depends not only on the respective values for ε and σ but also on film thickness and interfacial area. This is represented in Fig. 4.1.

Given the non-specificity of the Maxwell-Wagner-Sillars effect, it should be expected to take place in every kind of interface, thus producing interfacial polarization in any interface.

4.2 Solid–Liquid Interfaces

Solid–liquid interfaces acquire charge for many additional reasons: ionization of solid surface groups, selective adsorption/desorption of ions from the solid surface, and differential solubility of ions from an ionic compound. Selective adsorption of H^+ or OH^- ions from water has paramount importance, because is found in most natural environments.

4.2.1 Mechanisms for S/L Interface Charging

Ionization of solid surface groups is expected in acidic metal oxides and in polymers containing carboxylic groups, like cross-linked poly(styrene sulfonate) resins. On the other hand, polyethylene surfaces are more or less oxidized [2] and they may contain pendant carboxylic groups that undergo ionization in the presence of water and other solvents. When these systems are considered, it is important to keep in mind that the pK_a for the -COOH dissociation reaction is not a constant, as in low-MW solutes. Instead, pK_a for ionizable groups bound to a polymer chain or a surface varies with the degree of ionization [3], due to the effect of the increased negative charge density on the retention of H⁺ ions leaving the surface. Differential solubility is observed in salts and it is often neglected because chemistry teachers normally introduce the topics of solubility and the solubility product K_{ps} using an oversimplified picture. A frequent example is silver iodide and its solubility equilibrium is represented by Eq. (4.1).

$$AgI = Ag^{+} + I^{-} \text{ with } K_{ps} = \left[Ag^{+}\right] \left[I^{-}\right] = 8.52 \times 10^{-17}$$
 (4.1)

This suggests that the remaining undissolved AgI particles are electroneutral and the saturated solution contains equal concentrations of Ag⁺ and I⁻ ions, yielding $p_{Ag} \approx 8$. Indeed, AgI particles are only neutral when $p_{Ag} = 5.5$ and $p_{I} = 10.5$, this means, the two concentrations differ by five orders of magnitude and both concentrations depart from equilibrium by nearly three orders of magnitude.

This is easily understood, considering that unsolvated silver cations are significantly smaller (129 pm radius) [4] and thus more solvated [5] by water than iodide (206 pm). Consequently, silver ion activity is lower within water than the activity of iodide, at the same concentration and Ag⁺ actually exhibits extreme solvation effects that are not observed for any other ions except Zn^{2+} and Au^+ [6].

Selective adsorption of ions on the solid surface is easily observed with surfactant [7] and polyelectrolyte solutions. For instance, immersion of most solids on aqueous solutions of anionic surfactants like sodium lauryl sulfate leads to strong adsorption of the lauryl sulfate anions, much more intensely than Na⁺. This imparts to the surface a large negative charge that is one of the main factors of the dispersant capabilities of this and other surfactants, including detergency. The hydrophobic interactions responsible for surfactant adsorption largely overcome the electrostatic repulsion among adjacent adsorbed ions allowing the formation of adsorbed multilayers, hemimicelles [8, 9], and solloids¹ [10]. For these reasons, surfactants and their mixtures can drastically change the interfacial properties and hence they are used in many industrial processes such as dispersion/flocculation, flotation, emulsification, corrosion inhibition, cosmetics, drug delivery, chemical mechanical polishing, enhanced oil recovery, and nanolithography. On the other hand, since surface-active substances are widespread in any terrestrial environment and most are ionic compounds, they certainly play an important role in imparting charge to S/L interfaces.

4.2.2 The Electric Double Layer

Thus, a charged solid surface immersed in a liquid usually acquires excess charge and this interferes with the distribution of ions in the liquid forming an *electrical double layer* [11, 12], a peculiar, complex environment (Fig. 4.2). The water molecule dipoles adjacent to the surface are oriented and ions with opposite charge may bind strongly to the surface forming the *Stern layer* while other ions located beyond the *Stern plane* form the diffuse part of the double layer (or *Gouy-Chapman layer*), that obeys the Poisson-Boltzmann distribution of charge density. Strongly bound solvent

¹Solloids are surface-mediated colloids or colloids made up of any chemical moieties on surfaces [10].

Fig. 4.2 Schematic representation of the structure of the electric double layer according to Stern's theory. Ψ_d = Stern potential, ζ = Zeta potential which corresponds to the shear plane close to Stern plane. Reprinted with permission from [11]



and ions move together with the surface and they are separated from the rest of liquid by a slipping plane. Electric potential at the slipping plane is named *zeta potential* (ζ).

This prevalent picture of the electrical double layer is often modified by specific adsorption effects. For instance, Ba^{2+} cations adsorb on hematite particles with excess charge and anionic surfactants adsorb on negative silicate and cellulose surfaces. pH plays a major role in determining surface charge, since most surfaces show specific binding of H⁺ or OH⁻, even inert surfaces like hydrocarbons and fluorocarbons. For instance, water flowing through polyethylene or polytetrafluoroethylene tubing acquires excess positive charge due to OH⁻ adsorption (Fig. 4.3) [13].

Changing the solution pH is an important tool to change the interfacial charge. Adding acid usually increases solid surface charge while adding base makes the surfaces more negative [14], as seen in Fig. 4.4. On the other hand, measuring



Fig. 4.3 Representative plots showing electrical charge acquired by 50 mL of deionized water after flowing through hydrophobic materials. Reprinted with permission from [13]



Fig. 4.4 Effect of pH for various NaCl concentrations on zeta potential of titanium dioxide (anatase). Reprinted with permission from [15]

the zeta potential of interfaces is an invaluable tool in the study of the chemical structure and properties of solid surfaces that is essential information, e.g. in mineral processing.

4.2.3 Experimental Methods

Potential measurements at the particle surface or at the limit of the Stern layer are not currently feasible. However, potential at the slipping plane is determined using electrokinetic data and it is called zeta potential. The main tools for assessing the electric properties of solid–liquid interfaces are thus potentiometric measurements using different types of electrodes and zeta potential measurements based on the various electrokinetic phenomena, especially electrophoresis, electrosmosis, and sedimentation potential. However, surface charge and electrokinetic charge are very different double layer characteristics and the significance of each should be clearly recognized, following a critical evaluation by Lyklema, who made outstanding contributions to this topic [16]. The availability of both types of data for well-defined systems makes accessible much relevant information on the electrical double layer, including counter-ion adsorption, stagnant layer conduction, and overcharging. Lyklema also discussed the interpretation in terms of specific adsorption and ion correlations.

Potentiometric techniques are apparently simple and easily implemented in a number of different systems. Unfortunately, this is often deceiving. Application of potentiometry to the determination of proton surface charge at mineral/water interfaces was recently reviewed [17], covering conventional experimental procedures and providing a critical discussion of problems with the techniques. Recommendations for obtaining reasonable and comparable results were made, discussing the most important experimental parameters. The authors proposed a reference titration procedure to allow comparisons of experimental data, providing a checklist for researchers and reviewers that could improve the usefulness of published data.

Other techniques for ion adsorption measurements are also used to determine surface charge. However, simple comparison of adsorption and potentiometry results may lead to apparent disagreement that may indeed reveal previously unsuspected complexity of the surface. For instance, in a study on charge in soil particles the authors observed that "...estimates of net surface charge by potentiometric titration and ion adsorption did not agree, especially as the soil pH was adjusted away from the point of zero charge. This lack of agreement is attributed to dissolution reactions of minerals and organic matter at high and low pH, which consume acid or base and overestimate surface charge [18]."

Electrophoresis is by far the richest source of zeta potential data but it is unsuitable to the study of macroscopic S/L interfaces, like glass or textiles. These can be comminuted into small particles for electrophoresis experiments but comminution is often accompanied by mechano-chemical reactions that produce new surfaces, different from those existing in the original solid. In this case, zeta potentials are calculated from electro-osmosis or streaming potential experimental results [19].



Fig. 4.5 Streaming potential of raw cotton fiber and the same but following various treatments. Reprinted with permission from [22]

Cellulose is a rather intractable polymer due to the scarcity of solvents and to the fact that it decomposes thermally prior to melting. For this reason, cellulose and cellulosic materials are interesting examples of the use of streaming potentials (Fig. 4.5) to characterize charged groups in a complex, fibrous, and hardly soluble solid, including film membranes [20–22].

4.3 Liquid–Liquid Interfaces

Potential difference is observed across liquid–liquid interfaces following different mechanisms. An important case is differential ion diffusion across the interface that produces junction potentials (see Chap. 2). Another type of frequently observed phenomena is selective ion adsorption, as in the so-called membrane electrodes and in negative charge formation at water–oil interfaces.

The latter is the important case of OH⁻ ion accumulation at the interfaces between water and non-polar media like oils [23] and polyolefins. It is also related to the complex behavior or ions at water–air interfaces that will be discussed in the forth-coming section.

4.4 Solid– and Liquid–Gas Interfaces

This is a broad topic covering many different situations, depending on the nature of the solid or liquid. The possibility of charge transfer to and from the atmosphere, mediated by water droplets and vapor, was recognized by Faraday in the "vapor electricity" discovered by Lord Armstrong and by Kelvin in his "water drop equalizer". This instrument was used to measure atmospheric electricity and his functioning was based on charge transfer between a water tank and the atmosphere, at a fast rate. According to Kelvin, ". . . any difference of potentials between the insulated conductor and the air at the place where the stream from the nozzle breaks into drops is done away with at the rate of five per cent, per half second, or even faster" [24].

However, this information was later neglected, e.g. in E. Schrödinger's doctoral thesis [25], and other work [26, 27] that assigned the effect of air humidity on electrostatic charge dissipation to the increased surface conductance of the electrified solids. The dominating role of water vapor as a charge carrier to and from S/L interfaces and the role of the atmosphere as a charge reservoir received additional support, recently [28].

4.4.1 Liquid–Gas Interfaces

Spontaneous establishment of electric potential difference at the water-air interface is historically very important since it was already used by Kelvin.

There are at least three other areas of investigation revealing important information on the electrical properties of liquid–gas interfaces: Langmuir-Blodgett monolayers, interfaces of aqueous electrolyte solutions, and the study of water carrying excess charge. The two first topics are discussed in this chapter while the latter is further discussed in Chaps. 6 and 7, in this book.

4.4.1.1 LB Monolayers

Langmuir-Blodgett monolayers [29, 30] have been widely used to study structure and properties of many systems, ranging from surfactants to viruses and quantum dots. They are also used to manufacture self-assembled films and multilayers. For these reasons, they are by themselves a huge topic where the importance of interfacial electric fields in phenomena like molecular interactions, reorientation, and induced conformational changes was clearly demonstrated [31] and this is often easier than is a 3D system. On the other hand, interfacial charge in monolayers is largely dependent on the complex monolayer-forming species rather than on more strictly interfacial phenomena. For this reason, this topic will not be treated in detail here and the interested reader is directed to the excellent books and reviews on this topic.

4.4.1.2 Interfaces of Water and Aqueous Electrolyte Solutions

Experiments [32–36], theoretical calculations [37, 38], modeling, and simulation [39, 40] done on these interfaces have produced an impressive amount of work [41], benefiting from new, sophisticated techniques [42] together with classical methods.

This section does not give a full account of all the work done in this area but it presents some examples of the experimental results addressing the main points of divergence among the various authors.

For instance, vibrational sum frequency spectroscopy has been a rich source of information on ion accumulation at L/G interfaces [43, 44], showing also their effect on the surface water structure. HCl, HBr, and HI cause a significant disruption in the hydrogen-bonding network at the air–liquid interface, similar to that which is observed for sodium halides. One of the observed effects is a decrease in the number of dangling OH bonds relative to the neat water surface. These authors also found evidence for the presence of hydronium and Zundel ions and for increased concentration of bromide and iodide ions at the interface, in agreement with the electron spectroscopy results.

One open question is especially relevant: is the surface of pure water acidic or basic [45, 46], this means, which ions are preferentially adsorbed at the water–air interface, H^+ or OH^- ?

Garett [47] reviewed this topic emphasizing the accumulation of some anions at the air/water interface and not in the bulk, as usually happens to the cations. He also presented simulations explaining those positive surface adsorption excesses.

Jungwirth [33] used results from surface-selective spectroscopies and molecular simulations. Both approaches indicate that the heavier and thus softer halide ions can be present and even enhanced at the water surface. This author finds that hydronium but not hydroxide accumulate at the air/water and alkane/water interfaces. These findings were extended to water–protein interfaces and they supported a local model of interactions of ions with proteins aiming to the rationalization of ion-specific Hofmeister effects in the salting out of proteins.

An interesting analysis of the situation was made by Manciu and Ruckenstein [48], who applied a Poisson-Boltzmann model compatible with zeta potential experiments [49–52] to calculate the concentrations of ions at the interfaces. Their conclusions are as follows. For most pH values, the concentrations of both H⁺ and OH⁻ are much larger in the interfacial region than in bulk. However, at very low pH values, the interfacial concentration of H⁺ is lower than in bulk. At large pH values, the interfacial concentration of H⁺ and OH⁻ are lower than in bulk for three independent sets of ion adsorption parameters, obtained from three different sets of experimental zeta potential results. These lower interfacial concentrations of H⁺ and OH⁻, at extreme pH values, arise from adsorption saturation due to the finite number of adsorption sites. The ratio between H⁺ and OH⁻ concentrations is lower at the interface than in the bulk in most but not all cases. The interfacial ratio of H⁺ and OH⁻, divided by the same ratio in the bulk, depends on both the pH and salt concentration.

The thermodynamic model presented by Kallay and co-workers leads to some conclusions convergent with those in the previous paragraph, supporting experimental results on the dependency of the surface potential at the gas–water interface with the pH and showing that the interface is negative above pH 3.8 [53].

Further progress in this area is needed, not only to settle the current divergences but mainly because understanding these interfaces is needed to understand other important phenomena, like proton transfer at interfaces that is quite different from conventional proton transfer in bulk water [54]. The discrepancies between experimental results probably arise from the difficulty to avoid changing the excess charge in liquids and solids, inadvertently. This is probably due to handling or induction by neighboring solids, liquids, and the surrounding atmosphere that is often unduly neglected. The discrepancies among theoretical and computational results may arise from intrinsic limitations of the methods used or from computational difficulties to handle sufficiently large sets of molecules and ions.

4.4.2 Metal or Semiconductor/Liquid Interfaces

Metal or semiconductor–liquid interfaces are an essential topic of electrochemistry and electroanalytical chemistry, treated extensively in the excellent books authored by Bard [55] and Bockris [56]. A unique feature of electrodes is that the potential on the metal can be measured precisely with high time resolution. Moreover, it can also be changed by the researcher within a broad range, limited only by the onset of reduction and oxidation reactions at the two electrodes and the kinetics of the electrode reactions. The electrical double layer is a matter of great interest to electrochemists, who may count on a number of precise, time-resolved techniques whose power is not matched by the techniques available to colloid and surface chemists. For this reason, knowledge on the dynamic characteristics, structure and reactivity at electrode interfaces usually exceeds that available for many other kinds of interfaces [57].

A huge number of interesting and often unpredictable facts has been disclosed by electrochemical research, evidencing fascinating features of the electrode interfaces and of the power of electrochemical methods.

For instance, electrode interfaces can be used to generate unstable species, like radical ions in solution, by oxidizing or reducing stable precursors like polycyclic hydrocarbons and various nitrogenated compounds: aromatic amines, nitrocompounds, and nitrites. These free-radicals in solution engage in electron-transfer reactions that produce electrogenerated chemiluminescence (ECL), a powerful tool for ultrasensitive biomolecule detection and quantification using miniaturized biosensors capable of multiplexing detection with high sensitivity, low detection limit, and good selectivity and stability [58]. When ECL is produced within thermore-sponsive redox microgels, its intensity is correlated with the collapse of microgel particles [59]. This is a good example of the flexibility in the access to complex, unstable species and fine control that are achieved by triggering chemical reactions at the metal–liquid interfaces.

4.5 Solid–Solid Interfaces

Potential differences develop across solid–solid interfaces, due to different mechanisms: (1) electron transfer, in metals and semiconductors; (2) transfer of tribo-ions formed mechanochemically; (3) selective partition of adsorbed ions, especially OH⁻.

The first case is relevant in many areas, as in electrochemistry, corrosion, and microelectronics, and it is a well-developed topic that will not be further discussed here. The transfer of tribo-ions formed mechanochemically that was discovered recently is the topic of Chap. 9 in this book.

4.5.1 Selective Partition of Adsorbed Ions

Selective ion adsorption plays an important role that was first raised by the Whitesides group [60, 61], who described the fabrication and characterization of ionic electrets. These materials contain a long-lived electrostatic charge due to an imbalance between the number of cationic and anionic charges in the material. For instance, crosslinked polystyrene microspheres that contain covalently bound ions and mobile counterions transfer some of their mobile ions in air, in the absence of bulk liquid, to another contacting material. This selective transfer of mobile ions yields microspheres with a net electrostatic charge. A typical charge density is 1 elementary charge per 2000 nm², close to the theoretical limit imposed by the dielectric breakdown of air. It increases in an atmosphere of SF₆, compared to N₂. Other ionic electret materials are functionalized glass or silicon with covalently bound ions and mobile counterions. Charge patterns are built in these materials, using soft lithography [62].

These ideas have been extended to many other situations, because most solid surfaces contain some adsorbed water, even under low relative humidity, and water produces H⁺ and OH⁻. Moreover, the equilibrium concentrations of these two ions in pure water depend on the local electrostatic potential, under a non-zero electric potential. Following the presentation in Chap. 5, [H⁺] under a potential ϕ_1 is given by

$$-2.30RT\left(\log\left[\mathrm{H}^{+}\right]-7\right)=F\left(\phi_{1}\right)$$

Thus, water in a region in space where $\phi_1 = 0.2 V$ should have pH = 10.4. This is not macroscopically observed because the electric double layer formed at the aqueous interface shields the potential. Nevertheless, pure water contains excess concentration of H⁺ or OH⁻ ions, depending on the adjacent electrostatic patterns so that it can supply ions for adsorption, depending not only on chemical affinity but also on the local potential.

4.6 Water Structures at Interfaces

The behavior of water at interfaces has been receiving great attention for many decades [63] with plenty of diverging results and conclusions drawn by distinguished authors. This is probably one of the topics where greatest disagreement is found, in current science. New proposals further contribute to the complexity of the situation and the level of conflict seems to increase continuously, adding to the many disputes that were already mentioned in this chapter. This is not surprising, considering that water itself is "The Most Anomalous Liquid" [64].

References

- Iwamoto M (2012) Maxwell–Wagner effect. In: Bhushan B (ed) Encyclopedia of nanotechnology. Springer, Berlin, p 1276
- Costa RA, Coltro L et al (1990) A staining procedure for the detection of oxidized sites in polyolefins. Angew Makromol Chem 180:85–94
- 3. Borukhov I, Andelman D et al (2000) Polyelectrolyte titration: theory and experiment. J Phys Chem B 104:11027–11034
- Shannon RD (1976) Revised effective ionic radii and systematic studies of interatomic distances in halides and chalcogenides. Acta Crystallogr Sect A 32:751–767
- Nightingale ER Jr (1959) Phenomenological theory of ion solvation. effective radii of hydrated ions. J Phys Chem 63(9):1381–1387
- Noyes RM (1962) Thermodynamics of ion hydration as a measure of effective dielectric properties of water. J Am Chem Soc 84(4):513–522
- 7. Zhang R, Somasundaram P (2006) Advances in adsorption of surfactants and their mixtures at solid/solution interfaces. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 123–126:213–229
- Manne S, Cleveland JP et al (1994) Direct visualization of surfactant hemimicelles by force microscopy of the electrical double layer. Langmuir 10:4409–4413
- Ballesteros-Gómez A, Rubio S (2009) Hemimicelles of alkyl carboxylates chemisorbed onto magnetic nanoparticles: study and application to the extraction of carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in environmental water samples. Anal Chem 81:9012–9020
- Somasundaran P (2002) Simple colloids in simple environments explored in the past, complex nanoids in dynamic systems to be conquered next: some enigmas, challenges, and strategies. J Colloid Interf Sci 256(3–15):3–15
- Shaw DJ (1992) Introduction to colloid and surface chemistry. Charged interfaces, chapter 7. Butterworth Heinemann, London, p 174
- Lyklema J (1995) Fundamentals of interface and colloid science: solid interfaces. Electric double layers, vol 2, chapter 3. Academic, New York, pp 3-1-3-232
- 13. Burgo TAL, Galembeck F et al (2016) Where is water in triboelectric series? J Electrostat 80:30–33
- Quast K (2012) Effects of pretreatments on the zeta potential characteristics of a hematite ore. Int J Mining Eng Miner Process 1(2):47–55
- Gustafsson J, Mikkola P, Jokinen M, Rosenholm JB (2000) The influence of pH and NaCl on the zeta potential and rheology of anatase dispersions. Colloid Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp 175:349–359
- Lyklema J (2011) Surface charges and electrokinetic charges: distinctions and juxtapositionings. Colloid Surf A 376:2–8
- Lützenkirchen J et al (2012) Potentiometric titrations as a tool for surface charge determination. Croat Chem Acta 85(4):391–417

- Marcano-Martinez E, McBride MB (1989) Comparison of the titration and ion adsorption methods for surface charge measurement in oxisols. Soil Sci Soc Am J 53(4):1040–1045
- Jacobasch HJ, Bauböck G et al (1985) Problems and results of zeta-potential measurements on fibers. Colloid Polym Sci 263:3–24
- 20. Werner C, Jacobasch HJ et al (1995) Surface characterization of hemodialysis membranes based on streaming potential measurements. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 7(1):61–76
- 21. Hubbe MA (2006) Sensing the electrokinetic potential of cellulosic fiber surfaces. BioResources 1(1):116–149
- Luxbacher T, Čurlin M et al (2014) Assessing the quality of raw cotton knitted fabrics by their streaming potential coefficients. Cellulose 21:3829–3839
- Marinova K, Alargova R et al (1996) Charging of oil-water interfaces due to spontaneous adsorption of hydroxyl ions. Langmuir 12:2045–2051
- 24. Applin KL, Harrison RG (2013) Lord Kelvin's atmospheric electricity measurements. Hist Geo Space Sci 4(2):83–95. http://centaur.reading.ac.uk/33822/1/lord_Kelvins.pdf. Accessed 28 Jun 2016
- 25. Schrödinger E (1910) Über die Leitung der Elektrizität auf der Oberfläche von Iso-latoren an feuchter Luft. Ph.D. thesis, University of Wien, Wien
- Blacker RS, Birley AW (1991) Electrostatic charge occurrence, significance and measurement. Polym Test 10(4):241–262
- Field RF (2011) The formation of ionized water films on dielectrics under conditions of high humidity. J Appl Phys 17(5):318–325
- Burgo TAL, Rezende CA et al (2011) Electric potential decay on polyethylene: role of atmospheric water on electric charge build-up and dissipation. J Electrostat 69:401–409
- Knobler CM, Schwartz DK (1999) Langmuir and self-assembled monolayers. Curr Opin Colloid Interf Sci 4:46–51
- Oliveira ON Jr (1992) Langmuir-blodgett films—properties and possible applications. Brazil J Phys 22(2):60–69
- Nobre TM, Silva HS, Leone FA, Miranda PB, MED Z (2009) Molecular view of the interaction between t-carrageenan and a phospholipid film and its role in enzyme immobilization. J Phys Chem B 113:7491–7497
- 32. Healy TW, Fuerstenau DW (2007) The isoelectric point/point-of zero-charge of interfaces formed by aqueous solutions and nonpolar solids, liquids, and gases. J Colloid Interf Sci 309:183–188
- 33. Jungwirth P (2009) Spiers Memorial Lecture: ions at aqueous interfaces. Farad Discuss 141:9–30
- Creux P, Lachaise J et al (2009) Strong specific hydroxide ion binding at the pristine oil/water and air/water interfaces. J Phys Chem B 113:14146–14150
- Beattie JK, Gray-Weale A (2012) Oil/water interface charged by hydroxide ions and deprotonated fatty acids: a comment. Angew Chem Int Ed 51:12941–12942
- 36. Ghosal S, Hemminger JC et al (2005) Electron spectroscopy of aqueous solution interfaces reveals surface enhancement of halides. Science 307:563–566
- 37. Kudin KN, Car R (2008) Why are water-hydrophobic interfaces charged? J Am Chem Soc 130:3915–3391
- 38. Levin Y (2008) Polarizable ions at interfaces. Phys Rev Lett 102:147803
- 39. Tobias DJ, Stern AC et al (2013) Simulation and theory of ions at atmospherically relevant aqueous liquid-air interfaces. Annu Rev Phys Chem 64:339–359
- 40. Netz RR (2004) Water and ions at interfaces. Curr Opin Colloid Interf Sci 9:192-197
- Jungwirth P, Winter B (2008) Ions at aqueous interfaces: from water surface to hydrated proteins. Annu Rev Phys Chem 59:343–366
- 42. Fayer MD (2012) Dynamics of water interacting with interfaces, molecules, and ions. Acc Chem Res 45:3–14
- 43. Levering LM, Roxana Sierra-Hernández M et al (2007) Observation of hydronium ions at the air-aqueous acid interface: vibrational spectroscopic studies of aqueous HCl, HBr, and HI. J Phys Chem C 111:8814–8826

- 44. Liu D, Ma G et al (2004) Vibrational spectroscopy of aqueous sodium halide solutions and air–liquid interfaces: observation of increased interfacial depth. J Phys Chem B 108:2252–2260
- 45. Beattie JB, Djerdjev AM et al (2014) pH and the surface tension of water. J Colloid Interf Sci 422:54–57
- 46. Beattie JB, Djerdjev AM et al (2009) The surface of neat water is basic. Farad Discuss 141:31-39
- 47. Garett BC (2004) Ions at the air/water interface. Science 303(5661):1146-1147
- Manciu M, Ruckenstein E (2006) Ions at the air/water interface. J Colloid Interf Sci 304:541–544
- Manciu M, Ruckenstein E (2003) Specific ion effects via ion hydration: I. Surface tension. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 105:63–101
- Manciu M, Ruckenstein R (2004) The polarization model for hydration/double layer interactions: the role of the electrolyte ions. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 112:109–128
- 51. Manciu M, Ruckenstein E (2005) On the interactions of ions with the air/water interfaces. Langmuir 21:11312–11389
- 52. Manciu M, Ruckenstein E (2012) Ions near the air/water interface. I: Compatibility of zeta potential and surface tension experiments. Colloids Surf A 400:27–35
- Kallay N, Preocanin T et al (2015) Thermodynamic model of charging the gas/water interface. J Phys Chem C 119:997–1007
- 54. Mishra H, Enami S et al (2012) Anions dramatically enhance proton transfer through aqueous interfaces. PNAS 109:10228–10232
- 55. Bard AJ, Faulkner LR (2000) Electrochemical methods: fundamentals and applications. Wiley, New York
- 56. Bockris JO, Reddy AKN (1998) Modern electrochemistry 1: Ionics, electrodics. Springer, Berlin
- 57. Bockris JO (1993) Teaching the double layer. J Chem Educ 60(4):265-268
- Miao W (2008) Electrogenerated chemiluminescence and its biorelated applications. Chem Rev 108:2506–2553
- Pinaud F, Russo L et al (2013) Enhanced electrogenerated chemiluminescence in thermoresponsive microgels. J Am Chem Soc 135:5517–5520
- McCarty LS, Winkleman A et al (2007) Ionic electrets: electrostatic charging of surfaces by transferring mobile ions upon contact. J Am Chem Soc 129:4075–4088
- McCarty LS, Whitesides GM (2008) Electrostatic charging due to separation of ions at interfaces: contact electrification of ionic electrets. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:2188–2207
- 62. Xia Y, Whitesides GM (1998) Soft lithography. Annu Rev Mater Sci 28:153-184
- 63. Björneholm O et al (2016) Water at interfaces. Chem Rev 116:7698-7726
- 64. Pettersson LGM, Henchman RH et al (2016) Water—the most anomalous liquid. Chem Rev 116(13):7459–7462